# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA SCA EFILED: Sep 19 2023

No. 23-0369

09:08PM EDT

**Transaction ID 70903724** 

### DOUGLAS S. ROCKWELL and CAROL ROCKWELL,

**Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners** 

v.

## JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS And RIPPON ENERGY FACILITY, LLC,

**Defendants Below, Respondents.** 

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Presiding Judge David M. Hammer Civil Action No. 22-C-141

## PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Kathy M. Santa Barbara (WV State Bar #5960) The Law Office of Kathy M. Santa Barbara, PLLC 518 W. Stephen Street Martinsburg, WV 25401 kathy@ksblawofc.com

#### III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1**

The Circuit Court erred by disregarding, and thereby interfering with, the ruling of the Circuit Court of Jefferson County in Civil Action No. 22-C-6 in which the Circuit Court ordered, pursuant to the agreement of the parties (Petitioner here and the Jefferson County Commission and its Planning Commission) that certain standards would be considered in approving or denying a Conditional Use Permit for solar energy facilities.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 2

The Circuit Court misapplied the law as respects alleged "conflicting provisions" of Sections 6 and 8 of the Zoning Ordinance.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 3

The Circuit Court erred in finding that the record before the Circuit Court did not reveal that the Board of Zoning Appeals applied an erroneous principle of law inasmuch as the BZA failed to consider the provisions of Article 6.3A(1) of the Zoning Ordinance.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 4

The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in holding that no other section or sections of the Zoning Ordinance or Comprehensive Plan may be considered by the Board of Zoning Appeals when applying Sections 6.3A(1) and (2) of the Zoning Ordinance.

## **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 5**

The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in finding that the Board of Zoning Appeals did not apply an erroneous principle of law and was not plainly wrong in its factual findings.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 6

The Circuit Court erred by impliedly finding that Section 8.20 of the Zoning Ordinance was legally adopted by ignoring the fact that the Jefferson County Commission failed to include within Section 8.20 the language agreed to and adopted in the Order of the Circuit Court of Jefferson County in Civil Action No. 22-C-6 that certain standards would be considered in approving or denying a Conditional Use Permit for solar energy facilities.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 7

The failure of the Circuit Court to address all issues raised in the Petition for Certiorari with respect to the misconstruction and misapplication by the Board of Zoning Appeals of Sections 6.3A(1) and (2) of the Zoning Ordinance.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 8

The Circuit Court erred in amending Section 6.3A of the Zoning Ordinance by requiring the Board of Zoning Appeals to apply the provisions of Section 8.20 thereof.

### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 9**

The Circuit Court erred by failing to rule that the Board of Zoning Appeals made insufficient findings of fact for review by the Circuit Court.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 10

The Circuit Court erred by failing to address the issue of the burden of proof at a Conditional Use hearing before the Board of Zoning Appeals.

#### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 11**

The Circuit Court erred by disregarding the law of the case inasmuch as Jefferson County Civil Action No. 22-C-6 in which the Circuit Court ordered, pursuant to the agreement of the parties (Petitioner here and the Jefferson County Commission and its Planning Commission) that

certain standards would be considered in approving or denying a Conditional Use Permit for solar energy facilities, was one in a series of cases all relating to the same subject matter.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

On November 22, 2022, the Petitioners, Douglas S. Rockwell ("Mr. Rockwell") and Carol Rockwell ("Mrs. Rockwell") (collectively "the Rockwells") instituted the underlying civil action by filing a verified petition for a writ of certiorari pursuant to West Virginia Code § 8A-9-1 challenging the decision of the Jefferson County Board of Zoning Appeals ("BZA") approving a Conditional Use Permit ("CUP") issued to Rippon Energy Facility, LLC ("Rippon") to operate a Solar Energy Facility known as the Rippon Energy Facility ("Rippon Facility"), or, in the alternative, for a declaratory judgment pursuant to West Virginia Code §55-13-1, et seq. Jt. App. at 2-10. The Rockwells reside in the Rural Zoning District of Jefferson County ("County"), outside of the Urban Growth Boundary ("UGB") and the Preferred Growth Area ("PGA") and will be bordered on three sides by the Rippon Facility. Jt. App at 12, 982 (Petition at ¶ 5; Hearing Order at 1).

## The Initial Request to Amend the Zoning Ordinance

In the year 2019, the existing Jefferson County Zoning and Land Development and Ordinance ("Zoning Ordinance") contained no express provisions for the development of commercial scale solar energy facilities, or solar farms, in any of its zoning districts. Jt. App. at 1273-1408. A request for an amendment to the Zoning Ordinance to permit large scale solar energy facilities dates back to on or about November 26, 2019 when the Jefferson County Planning Commission ("Planning Commission") received a request from a farmer working with Torch Clean Energy (Rippon's parent company) to amend the Zoning Ordinance to allow for solar farms in the Rural Zoning District as a Conditional Use. Jt. App. at 984 (Hearing Order at ¶ 1). That

request, through actions of the Planning Commission and the Jefferson County Commission ("County Commission"), morphed into the adoption of Text Amendment ZTA19-03 – solar energy facilities (the "First STA") to the Zoning Ordinance—which allowed large-scale solar energy facilities to process as a Principle Permitted Use in eight (8) of the twelve (12) County zoning districts, including the Rural District. *Id*.

## The First Suit - County Agrees to Rescind First STA

A procedural and factual history of the various actions of the County entities and the suits which those actions generated is in order to provide necessary context to the instant appeal. On November 2, 2020, Mr. Rockwell and others filed civil actions in the Circuit Court of Jefferson County ("Circuit Court") (Civil Action Nos. CC-19-2020-C-125, 132-137, consolidated under 20-C-125) (the "First Suit") challenging the action of the County Commission in adopting the First STA because the First STA was not consistent with the *Envision Jefferson 2035 Comprehensive Plan* (the "Comprehensive Plan"). The Petitioners in the First Suit and the County reached an agreement embodied in an Agreed Order Resolving Civil Action entered on December 12, 2020, pursuant to which the First STA would be sent back to the Planning Commission, and then to the County Commission for further review and public hearings.

# County Fast-Tracks Adoption of Second STA identical to First STA but With Less Stringent Setbacks

After further proceedings before the Planning Commission and the County Commission held between January 12, 2021 and April 12, 2021, the County Commission adopted an STA (the "Second STA") similar to the First STA except as adopted the Second STA required less stringent setbacks and barriers than the First STA. Jt. App. at 984 (Hearing Order at ¶ 2).

#### The Second Suit – Circuit Court Finds the Second STA Invalid

Some of the Petitioners in the First Suit, including Mr. Rockwell, brought suit in Circuit Court against the Planning Commission on March 30, 2021 and against the County Commission on April 14, 2021. These suits were consolidated under Civil Action No. 21-C-33 (the "Second Suit"). Petitioners in the Second Suit challenged the legality of the Second STA upon substantially the same grounds as the First Suit: the failure of the County to adopt an amendment consistent with the provisions of the Comprehensive Plan as required by W. Va. Code §8A-7-8(a).

In the Second Suit, by Order entered August 16, 2021, Judge Debra McLaughlin presiding, found that the Second STA was invalid and unenforceable because the JC Commission failed to make any factual findings on which the Circuit Court could find that the Second STA was consistent with the Comprehensive Plan or that there "have been major changes of an economic, physical or social nature within the area involved which were not anticipated when the Comprehensive Plan was adopted and those changes have substantially altered the basic characteristics of the area" as required by W. Va. Code §8A-7-8(a). Jt. App. at 985. The County, the Petitioners and Intervenor Wild Hill Solar, LLC each appealed that Order to this Honorable Court filed to Case No. 21-731.

# Actions Leading to Third Suit – County Fast Tracks Amendment to Comprehensive Plan in Attempt to Counter Effects of Strike Down of Second STA

After the entry of Judge McLaughlin's Order in the Second Suit, "[t]he Planning Commission convened a special meeting on August 31, 2022, to review the zoning text amendment file for #ZTA 19-03, related to solar energy facilities and [the Second Suit]. The Planning

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Rockwells respectfully ask that this Court take judicial notice of the filing of that appeal and the dismissal of the appeal by Order of this Court entered April 27, 2023, after the Petitioners in the Second Suit moved for dismissal of the appeal as moot.

Commission only discussed the issues in executive session with its legal counsel. At its regular meeting on September 2, 2021, the County Commission discussed the legal issues regarding a proposed solar text amendment. Thereafter the Planning Commission instructed its staff to draft a revision of the [Comprehensive Plan] to permit large scale solar facilities in the rural and residential growth districts. On December 7, 2021, the Planning Commission held a public hearing addressing the text amendment regarding solar facilities in the rural and residential districts. At the December 14, 2021, meeting, the Planning Commission voted to approve the proposed text amendment to the Comprehensive Plan, 'to clarify that solar facilities are principle permitted uses in the rural and residential zoning district,' and to recommend the same to the County Commission....The Planning Commission presented the proposed text amendment to the County Commission at the County Commission's January 6, 2022, meeting." Jt. App. at 986 (Hearing Order at ¶ 4).

# The Third Suit – County Finally Recognizes that Solar Energy Facilities Must Process as a Conditional Use in the Rural District Outside of the UGB and PGA

On January 13, 2022, Mr. Rockwell brought suit against the Planning Commission and the JC Commission in Civil Action No. 22-C-6 (the "Third Suit") challenging the validity of the proposed amendments made by the Planning Commission to the Comprehensive Plan and seeking to enjoin further action thereon by the JC Commission. "On March 31, 2022, a previous injunction entered by Circuit Court Judge McLaughlin [in the Third Suit] was dissolved because the County and Rockwell reach an agreement that, '[a]s adopted, the Comprehensive Plan would allow Sollar Energy Facilities as a Principle Permitted Use in any zoning district within the Urban Growth Boundary and the Preferred Growth Area and would permit such solar energy facilities outside of the Urban Growth Boundary and the Preferred Growth Area by the Conditional Use Permit process

in the Rural District." Jt. App. at 986-87 (Hearing Order at ¶ 5). In addition, as set forth in the Third Suit Order, the County and Mr. Rockwell agreed as follows:

The parties acknowledge and agree that among the General Standards to be considered in approving or denying a Conditional Use Permit is that "[t]he proposed use is compatible with the goals of the adopted [Comprehensive Plan]." The parties further acknowledge and agree that page 77 of the Comprehensive Plan, Agricultural and Rural Economy Recommendations (Goal 8), paragraph 5. b. provides as follows: "Amend local land use regulations to permit non-agriculturally related commercial uses by the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) process in the Rural zone if the use is agriculturally and rurally compatible in scale and intensity, poses no threat to public health, safety and welfare, and if the use helps to preserve farmland and open space and continue agricultural opportunities."

(the "5.b Language"). *Id.* (Emphasis added). As noted in the underlying Order, the County Commission included certain of the language as contained within the Third Suit Order in the Comprehensive Plan, but ignored the 5.b Language despite its declared reason for the amendment: "to conform to the attached agreed Settlement Order" being the Third Suit Order. Jt. App. at 988, 1011 (Hearing Order at ¶ 7 and Exhibit 1 thereto).

## **Actions Leading to Fourth Suit**

On May 17, 2022, the Planning Commission, after a public hearing regarding a Zoning Text Amendment for solar energy facilities ZTA 22-01 (the "Third STA") voted to send the draft of the Third STA to the County Commission for consideration. Jt. App. at 988-89 (Hearing Order at ¶ 8). Although the Planning Commission's proposed draft of the Third STA incorporated the criteria established under Article 6 of the Zoning Ordinance where the solar energy facility was required to process as a conditional use, the Third STA did not require the application for the CUP to contain, nor did it require the BZA to consider the 5.b Language: "if the use is agriculturally and rurally compatible in scale and intensity" and "if the use helps to preserve farmland and open space and continue agricultural opportunities," two of the three conditions previously recognized

by the County in the Third Suit Order and required by the Comprehensive Plan. *Id.* The County Commission voted to adopt the Third STA at its June 16, 2022 meeting without the 5.b Language. Jt. App. at 989-90 (Hearing Order at ¶ 10).

The Fourth Suit – The County Commission, Planning Commission and the BZA, Acknowledges, and the Circuit Court Stated, that the BZA must Consider Not Only the Goals Contained within the Comprehensive Plan but also the Recommendations

On July 8, 2022, Mr. Rockwell filed suit against the County to Civil Action No. 22-C-81 seeking injunctive and declaratory relief due to the failure of the County to include within the Third STA a requirement that the BZA, when considering an application for a CUP, consider the 5.b Language, being two of the three recommendations contained in the Comprehensive Plan as recognized by the County in the Agreed Order resolving the Third Suit. Jt. App. at 990 (Hearing Order at ¶ 7) (the "Fourth Suit"). At the preliminary injunction hearing held on July 20, 2022, in response to arguments made by counsel for Mr. Rockwell, and based upon the representations of counsel for the County Commission, Planning Commission, BZA and intervenors, Judge McLaughlin entered an Order on July 27, 2022 ("Fourth Suit Order") denying the preliminary injunction "including a finding that the parties agreed that 'when considering an application for a CUP, under [Section 6.3 of the Zoning Ordinance] as to the compatibility with the goals of the Comprehensive Plan, the BZA shall do so in conjunction with the recommendation[s] of the Comprehensive Plan." Jt. App. at 990-91 (Hearing Order at ¶ 12). "Goals and objectives are what the community wishes to achieve. Recommendations are implementation strategies of how a community looks to achieve them." Jt. App. at 1029. The issue in the First Suit, the Second Suit, and the Fourth Suit was whether the STA allowed solar facilities in the Rural District outside of the UGBs and the PGAs consistent with the Comprehensive Plan as required by W. Va. Code §

8A-7-8. That issue was not presented to Judge Hammer in the underlying Civil Action because it had been resolved in the First Suit, the Second Suit, and the Fourth Suit.

### Rippon's CUP Application and the Underlying Civil Action

On or about October 3, 2022, Rippon submitted an Application with the Jefferson County Office of Planning and Zoning (the "CUP Application") seeking a CUP to construct and operate the portion of its proposed Rippon Facility located in the Rural zoning district but outside of the UGB and PGA. Jt. App. at 28-63. The Rippon Facility is to be located upon seven parcels which are situated in the Rural zoning district outside of the UGB and the PGA and is comprised of the following parcels of real estate in the Kabletown District of the County:

- a. Tax Map 11, Parcel 9 containing 133.75 acres of which 106.52 acres (or 79.6%)
   will be part of the Rippon Facility project, and owned by Bullskin LLC ("Parcel 1");
- b. Tax Map 10, Parcel 3.1 containing 108.66 acres of which 99.84 (or 91.9%) will be part of the Rippon Facility project, and owned by Clarence E. Hough, et al. ("Parcel 2");
- c. Tax Map 21, Parcel 6, containing 101.6 acres of which 97.01 acres (or 95.5%) will
  be part of the Rippon Facility project, and owned by View Mountain Farm LLC
  ("Parcel 3");
- d. Tax Map 21, Parcel 5, containing 174.6 acres of which 165.52 acres (or 94.8%) will be part of the Rippon Facility project, and owned by Stanley, Jr. & Katherine Dunn ("Parcel 4");
- e. Tax Map 21, Parcel 7, containing 98.39 acres of which 86.07 acres (or 87.5%) will be part of the Rippon Facility project, and owned by Stanley, Jr. & Katherine Dunn

("Parcel 5");

- f. Tax Map 22, Parcel 5.1, containing 232 acres of which 169.15 acres (or 72.9%) will be part of the Rippon Facility project, and owned by Stanley, Jr. & Katherine Dunn ("Parcel 6"); and
- g. Tax Map 10, Parcel 5, containing 366 acres of which 12.27 acres (or 3.35% only the substation is located upon this parcel) will be part of the Rippon Facility project, and owned by Stanley, Jr. & Katherine Dunn ("Parcel 7")<sup>2</sup>.

Parcels 1 through 7, inclusive, are sometimes referred to herein as the "Rural Parcels." Jt. App. at 32-35, 43-44.

Rippon's Application states that the Rural Parcels "have been used for agricultural purposes, including cropland, hayfields, and pasture. The land is generally cleared land, but includes some trees along rock outcroppings, field boundaries, and along the Shenandoah River and Bullskin Creek." Jt. App. at 43. Parcels 4, 5, and 6, presently owned by Stanley, Jr. and Katherine Dunn, are being sold to Rippon and are not being leased by Rippon. Jt. App. at 123. The aerial views contained in Rippon's Concept Plan reveal that the lands surrounding the Rippon Facility contain very few, if any, non-residential structures thereon. Jt. App. at 72.

During the public comment period on October 27, 2022, Mr. Aitcheson's testimony before the BZA included statements from his "Overview" which was made a part of the record before the BZA, set forth several goals to be considered. Jt. App. at 174-79. In addition thereto, in his presentation to the BZA, Mr. Aitcheson, using Rippon's own information relative to parcel size of each of the six (6) parcels on which a total of 215,000 solar panels and associated infrastructure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Two additional parcels owned by Stiles Family Partnership LLC containing a total of 140.94 acres are a part of the Rippon Facility but are located in the Rural zoning district but within the UGB and therefore a principal permitted use.

comprising the project would be located (excluding the minute percentage of the parcel on which the substation would be located), provided the BZA with percentage occupation of each parcel of land by the solar energy project ranging from 73% to 96% of each parcel's acreage (for an average of 88.17%). *Id*.

After entering into a "deliberative" session for 14 minutes, and returning to an open meeting with limited discussion, the BZA voted to approve the CUP. Jt. App. at 154, 209-17.

Section 6.3 of the Zoning Ordinance sets forth the procedure for processing a CUP by the BZA. Attention is directed to subparagraph A. 1. of Section 6.3 which requires the BZA to consider whether "[t]he proposed use is compatible with the goals of the adopted Comprehensive Plan." Jt. App. at. 1364-65. The Comprehensive Plan, in Appendix D, sets forth 27 "Goals" with subparts (called "Objectives"). Other goals are described in the text of the Comprehensive Plan separate from Appendix D. For instance, "[o]ne goal of this Plan is to maintain productive farmland soils and the rural character and economy of the County by reducing the conversion of farmland to non-agricultural based uses." Jt. App at 1087. The written findings of fact by the BZA consisted of a pro forma statement that the enumerated requirements of Section 6.3 of the Zoning Ordinance had been met without explanation of the reasons for those conclusions. The BZA does not address in those findings of fact what goals the BZA used in evaluating the Rippon Facility's CUP. Therefore, neither this Court nor the lower court can address whether the BZA acted in accordance with law.

The Circuit Court, ignoring many of the facts and arguments of the Rockwells, entered its Order Denying Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Complaint for Declaratory Judgment and Affirming the Decision of the Board of Zoning Appeals on May 19, 2023. Inasmuch as the Order of the Circuit Court denied an extraordinary writ, the Rockwells timely appealed to this Honorable Court on June 16, 2023.

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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