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

consideration of “whether the proposed use is compatible with the goals of the adopted 

Comprehensive Plan” and whether the “proposed use is compatible in intensity and scale with the 

existing and potential land uses on the adjoining and confronting properties, and poses no threat 

to public health, safety, and welfare” are applicable and were not complied with below. Such 

assertions are errant. See Sections B, C, and D, supra. As defined within the Comprehensive Plan, 

“intensity” is contemplated as “[t]he permitted ratio of building size to land area.” See Jt. App. at 

1259. Petitioners assert without factual or legal basis that the Board failed to address compatibility 

of the facility, in blatant disregard of several statements on the record that the Board clearly 

determined the facility to be compliant. See Jt. App. at 146 (“it is my opinion that the proposed 

use is compatible to scale and intensity of the rural environment”); Jt. App. at 148-49 (“I think it’s 

well and compatible with the scale and intensity of the rural environment”); Jt. App. at 150 (“I 

think on pondering this it is compatible in scale and intensity with the rural environment”). The 

totality of this evidence as presented is summed up in the Board Chairman’s statement that there 

had been no “convincing remarks or evidence or anything I’ve seen that really makes me believe 

that it’s not compatible.” Jt. App. at 151.  

 Further, Petitioners reference testimony from the public hearing to support their contention 

that “members of the Board misstated the requirements of Paragraph 5.b.” Pets.’ Brief at 26. To 

be clear, Petitioners in referencing “Paragraph 5.b,” allude to guidance of the Comprehensive Plan, 

rather than the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. See Largent, 222 W. Va. 789, 671 S.E.2d 

794 (a county’s “zoning ordinance is the law, and its comprehensive development plan is not.”). 
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Along these lines, Paragraph 5.b guides the Board and the County in implementing its goals, but 

does not require anything. See Jt. App. at 1092. In fact, the Comprehensive Plan itself makes 

explicitly clear that it is intended to be only a “statement of realistic Goals and Objectives which 

lay the groundwork for the recommendations and implementation strategies of the vision.” Jt. 

App. at 1027 (emphasis added). Beyond that, Petitioners’ objection that the proposed use is non-

compliant with Paragraph 5.b of Goal 8 of the Comprehensive Plan finds no support, as the Board 

clearly found that once decommissioned, the land will be wholly available for agricultural use. Jt. 

App. at 147. Guidelines contained therein contain no prohibition as to a temporary use of the land 

which in no way permanently impedes preservation, despite Petitioners’ attempts to read one in.  

Even absent these clear principles of law, Petitioners’ position that scale and intensity and 

considerations of public health, safety, or welfare were not involved in the Board’s decision are 

nevertheless errant. See Sections C and D, supra. Board member McKinney expressly stated his 

opinion on the record that “the proposed use is compatible to scale and intensity of the rural 

environment especially with the use of the adjoining land that’s already been developed to the 

extent that it’s going to be developed.” Jt. App. at 146 (emphasis added). McKinney went on to 

state that he had heard “no evidence that this facility would pose any threat to public health, safety 

or welfare” and concluded by noting that the parcels will still be maintained as farmland once the 

facility is decommissioned in thirty years. Jt. App. at 146-47. It’s unclear how Petitioners can 

continue to assert such factors were not considered despite the plethora of clear and convincing 

evidence in the record to the contrary. Petitioners’ only attempt to do so is to allege that Rippon’s 

application “failed to address each of the general standards,” yet Petitioners fail entirely to provide 

any evidentiary basis for an allegation which is so clearly unsupported by the record. See Pets.’ 

Brief, at 26. 
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Baseless allegations resulting purely from Petitioners’ unhappiness with the result do not 

render the Board’s actions arbitrary or capricious. Rather, the West Virginia Code makes clear that 

a comprehensive plan is intended to “enhance the unique quality of life and culture in that 

community and [adapt] to future changes of use of an economic, physical, or social nature.” W. 

Va. Code § 8A-3-1(b). With these mandated objectives in mind, it appears that Petitioners, rather 

than either Respondent, through their reluctance to adapt to contemplated economic changes in 

Jefferson County incorporating the utilization of solar energy, seek to act contrary to the purpose 

of the Comprehensive Plan.  

With these considerations in mind, the Circuit Court properly determined that the Board 

complied with both the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, as well as the recommendations of 

the Comprehensive Plan. The Board’s compliance is well-documented by the record before this 

Court and, as a result, is not subject to reversal.  

I. The Circuit Court did not “amend” Section 6.3A of the Zoning Ordinance, but 
correctly interpreted based upon the record before it and the plain language as 
enacted. 

The Circuit Court correctly determined that, based upon the plain language of the Zoning 

Ordinance and pursuant to fundamental principles of statutory construction, Section 8.20 controls 

when reviewing a CUP application. Petitioners allege that the Board is “required to apply each of 

the general standards given in 6.3A of the Zoning Ordinance…” Pets.’ Brief, at 27. Specifically, 

Petitioners oppose the conclusion that because Section 8.20 relates specifically to solar 

development facilities, these specific requirements apply rather than those more generalized. 

However, such a result is expressly set forth within the Zoning Ordinance itself. Article 8 requires 

that “[s]hould the standards found in this Article conflict with those found in this Ordinance or in 
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the Jefferson County Subdivision and Land Development Regulations, the standards of this 

Article shall apply.” Jt. App. at 1367. The language could not be more clear.  

Further, West Virginia Courts have strictly held that “‘shall’ in the absence of language in 

the statute showing a contrary intent on the part of the legislature, should be afforded a mandatory 

connotation.” Syl. Pt. 5, Rogers v. Hechler, 176 W. Va. 713, 348 S.E.2d 299 (1986) (citing Syl. 

Pt. 2, Terry v. Sencindiver, 153 W. Va. 651, 171 S.E.2d 480 (1969)). As a more general matter, 

principles of statutory interpretation “require[] that a specific statute be given precedence over a 

general statute relating to the same subject matter.” Syl. Pt. 1, Kingdon, 174 W. Va. 330, 325 

S.E.2d 120; see also Daily Gazette Co., Inc., 181 W. Va. at 45, 380 S.E.2d at 212 (“[t]he rules of 

statutory construction require that a specific statute will control over a general statute[.]”). Thus, 

the Zoning Ordinance includes an obligatory preclusion of sections which may conflict with 

Section 8.20. As a result, the assertion that the Circuit Court “improperly alter[ed] or amend[ed] 

the Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan” are entirely baseless. See Pets.’ Brief, at 27. 

Rather, the Circuit Court merely acknowledged and correctly applied the deliberate legislative 

intent of the County Commission and Planning Commission in affirming the Board’s decision to 

do the same.  

J. The Circuit Court did not err by upholding the findings of fact rendered by the 
Board of Zoning Appeals in granting Rippon’s Conditional Use Permit. 

 Petitioners assert that the Circuit Court, in coming to its ultimate conclusion upholding 

Rippon’s CUP issuance, erred in affirming the Board’s findings of fact. In support of this 

argument, Petitioners now assert that “several findings of fact” were not supported by the record. 

See Pet.’s Brief, at 27. They further allege that required analysis was never conducted. Pet.’s Brief, 

at 27. Both arguments fail.  
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 As a baseline, a board of zoning appeals is required to make “written findings of fact. Such 

facts determine whether the particular conditional use applied for is consistent with the spirit, 

purpose and intent of the ordinance.” In re Skeen, 190 W. Va. 649, 651, 441 S.E.2d 370, 372 

(1994). Petitioners correctly acknowledge that “[w]hile on appeal there is a presumption that a 

board of zoning appeals acted correctly…” Lower Donnally Ass’n, 212 W. Va. at 630, 575 S.E.2d 

at 240. So long as written findings of fact are issued, those factual findings should be disturbed 

only if “plainly wrong.” See Syl. Pt. 5, Wolfe, 159 W. Va. 34, 217 S.E.2d 899.  

 Petitioners allege that they sufficiently outlined “several findings of fact made by the 

[Board] that are not supported by the record.” Pets.’ Brief at 27. However, to support this 

contention, they merely cite to a bulleted list of findings of fact with which they take issue. See Jt. 

App. at 311. Petitioners therein seek to nitpick factual technicalities in the record with which they 

take issue, though fail to provide any evidence of their own which grants credence to their 

arguments. Overcoming the factual findings of the Board requires meeting a high burden and 

Petitioners’ mere disdain for the result of those findings is not sufficient. Rather, the complete 

record indicates that the Board adequately considered all evidence before it and rendered a decision 

based upon the same. The Circuit Court, in review of that record, affirmed the decision, 

determining that Petitioners failed to prove any grounds for overcoming the presumption of 

correctness. Jt. App. at 1004-05.  

As the factual circumstances remain the same and based upon the considerations of law as 

outlined herein, nothing in the record indicates that the Board’s findings of fact were plainly 

wrong. Accordingly, it cannot be said that the Circuit Court erred in holding the same.  
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K. The Board of Zoning Appeals and Circuit Court both correctly determined that 
Rippon carried the necessary burden of proof for issuance of a Conditional Use 
Permit.  

 Petitioners by their tenth Assignment of Error contend that the Court failed to address the 

burden of proof at a Conditional Use hearing before the Board and, accordingly, the CUP must be 

revoked. See Pets.’ Brief at 29. Rippon does not contest that the burden of proof was placed upon 

it in order to receive a CUP. However, as indicated by the Board’s decision and the subsequent 

record before the Circuit Court, that burden was unquestionably met, thereby justifying issuance 

of the CUP. Jt. App. at 1004. It is also facially evident that Petitioners fail to provide any basis of 

law upon which they allege the burden of proof was not met (nor even seek to establish what the 

burden of proof is), but merely make the same allegations which are clearly contradicted by the 

breadth of the record.  

 Of further importance, any allegation that the Circuit Court failed to address the burden of 

proof is entirely misplaced. Considering the challenge itself relates exclusively to the issuance of 

the CUP and that issuance requires consideration of a variety of factors based upon information 

provided by the applicant to the Board, the burden of proof which was on Rippon is inextricably 

intertwined with the result. Despite this, Petitioners once again now seek to challenge for the first 

time a question of law which was not directly put before the Circuit Court below. Regardless of 

deficiencies in Petitioners’ pleadings and subsequent arguments relating to the Motion to Dismiss, 

the Circuit Court’s determination that the Board was “not plainly wrong in its factual findings” (Jt. 

App. at 1006) affirms that Rippon necessarily carried the burden of proof for issuance of a 

Conditional Use Permit. As a result, Petitioners’ arguments in this regard fail both practically, and 

as a matter of law.  
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L. The Circuit Court did not err in any regard with consideration to Jefferson 
County Civil Action No. 22-C-6, as no argument relating to the same was put 
before the Court. Even had Petitioners not waived such an argument, the law of 
the case doctrine is wholly inapplicable to the case at hand.  

 As with several arguments above, Petitioners now posthumously attempt to add claims to 

this action which at no point were put before the Court at the lower level. See Sections B, F, and 

G, supra. Particularly, the Petitioners argue that the Circuit Court, despite not being presented with 

the same, failed to consider an agreement rendered in the Third Suit between the Petitioners and 

Jefferson County entities not made a party to this action.  

 Importantly, the “law of the case” doctrine applies to “prohibit[] reconsideration of issues 

which have been decided in a prior appeal in the same case, provided that there has been no 

material changes in the facts since the prior appeal, such issues may not be relitigated in the trial 

court or re-examined in a second appeal.” Hatfield v. Painter, 222 W. Va. 622, 632, 671 S.E.2d 

453, 463 (2008) (citing 5 Am.Jur.2d Appellate Review § 605 at 300 (1995)) (emphasis added). 

“The trial court must implement both the letter and the spirit of the mandate, taking into account 

the appellate court’s opinion and the circumstances it embraces.” Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rel. Frazier 

& Oxley v. Cummings, 214 W. Va. 802, 591 S.E.2d 728 (2003). “The general rule is that when a 

question has been definitely determined by this Court its decision is conclusive on parties, privies 

and courts, including this Court, upon a second appeal or writ of error and it is regarded as the law 

of the case.” Syl. Pt. 1, Mullins v. Green, 145 W. Va. 469, 115 S.E.2d 320 (1960); see also Graves 

v. Lioi, 930 F.3d 307, 318 (4th Cir. 2019). Put simply, the doctrine does not apply “unless an 

appellate decision was issued on the merits of the claim sought to be precluded.” Hatfield, 222 W. 

Va. at 632, 671 S.E.2d at 463 (citing Shore v. Warden, Stateville Prison, 942 F.2d 1117, 1123 (7th 

Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 504 U.S. 922, 112 S.Ct. 1973 (1992)). It applies only to “govern the same 
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issues in subsequent stages in the same case.” Arizona v. California, 460 U.S. 605, 618, 103 S.Ct. 

1382, 1391 (1983) (emphasis added).  

Petitioners correctly state by their Brief that they have brought “a series of lawsuits 

involving solar energy facilities.” See Pet.’s Brief, at 29. Rippon does not dispute that Petitioners 

have demonstrated a clear intent to bring repeated challenges to solar development in Jefferson 

County. However, the numerous challenges previously brought have no bearing on the Circuit 

Court’s dismissal of the matter at hand and—more specifically—an agreement purportedly entered 

in the Third Suit cannot be enforced against Rippon, who was not a party to the alleged agreement. 

See Section B, supra. As caselaw clearly demonstrates, the law of the case applies only where the 

trial court receives a matter on remand with clear directive from the appellate court. See, e.g., Syl. 

Pt. 3, Cummings, 214 W. Va. 802, 591 S.E.2d 728 (“[u]pon remand of a case for further 

proceedings after a decision by this Court, the circuit court must proceed in accordance with the 

mandate and the law of the case as established on appeal.”) (emphasis added). The Circuit Court 

dismissed this action and upheld the Board’s decision in the preliminary stages and—at least in 

this action—had no orders from an appellate court by which the law of the case doctrine could 

even apply.  

Petitioners’ argument in this regard appears to be that the Third and Fourth Suits bind this 

Court (or the Circuit Court) in some manner, despite entirely different questions of law, distinct 

defendants, and the simple reality that this action constitutes an entirely separate action. In support, 

Petitioners once again cite to a purported agreement entered in the Third Suit. As set forth on 

numerous occasions herein, that agreement is of no consequence to this analysis and the mere fact 

that Petitioners have repeatedly brought challenges to solar development in Jefferson County over 

the previous four years in no way binds the Circuit Court in its consideration of the validity of the 
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Board’s CUP issuance. See Section B, supra. That consideration is an entirely separate issue in an 

entirely different suit.  

As succinctly established by the Circuit Court’s Order, the Board has no authority to 

legislate or amend the zoning ordinance by which it operates, but must “apply the Zoning 

Ordinance as written…” See Jt. App. at 995. Because no arguments regarding the agreement and 

an associated law of the case doctrine application were before the Circuit Court below and, even 

if they were, are entirely irrelevant to this action, the Circuit Court correctly upheld the Board’s 

decision.  

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth herein, Respondent Rippon Energy Facility, LLC respectfully

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